Disparities of Marginalized Pediatric and AYA Oncology Patients

by

Juanita Ramírez

A Master's Paper submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in the Public Health Leadership Program

Spring 2020

Appr	oved by:
	Lori A. Evarts, MPH, Advisor
	1 June 2020
	Date
_	
	Stuart H. Gold, MD, Reader

01 June 2020

Date

Abstract

The purpose of this review is to highlight the healthcare inequities faced by pediatric and adolescent young adult (AYA) oncology patients; highlighting disparities in treatment faced by racial/ethnic minorities, individual identifying as part of the LGBT+ (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer and other sexualities and/or identities) population and those with differing abilities. We review known barriers and disparities that exist for these select groups and provide an overview of potential evidence-based changes that could be implemented to address some of these inequities.

Key words: pediatric oncology, healthcare disparities, marginalized groups

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my advisor, Lori Evarts - the door to Lori's office was always open for discussion about any new interest or change in ideas. Lori's continued support over the past couple of years helped me finally get here. Thank you!!

Thank you to Dr. Gold and the entire UNC Pediatric Hematology/Oncology Division. I am honored to work alongside each of you and am thankful to work with such a supportive group. I would also like to thank all those at UNC that have taught, mentored and inspired me: Drs. Carey Anders, Claire Dees, Matthew Milowsky, Weili Lin, Yueh Lee; Amber Leinwand, Christine Baluyot, Kathy Wilber, Julia Watson, and Yoana Ativan.

Tim + Odesza: Thank you for everything over the past years. Couldn't have done it alone and glad to have y'all with me.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	4
PEDIATRIC AND AYA ONCOLOGY	5
Background	5
LONG-TERM EFFECTS OF PEDIATRIC OR AYA CANCER DIAGNOSIS	
DISPARITIES & BARRIERS TO CARE	6
ROLE OF THE UNC HEALTHCARE SYSTEM	
DISPARITIES AMONG MARGINALIZED GROUPS	9
DISPARITIES ENCOUNTED BY RACIAL & ETHNIC MINORITY PATIENTS	9
DISPARITIES ENCOUNTED BY LGBTQ+ PATIENTS	
DISPARITIES ENCOUNTED BY PATIENTS WITH DIFFERING ABILITIES (DAS)	
Implication of Disparities	
UNC PEDIATRIC & AYA POPULATION	13
UNC DEMOGRAPHICS	
CHANGES IN THE UNC-H PEDIATRIC AND AYA ONCOLOGY PRACTICES	13
MOVING FORWARD	15
REFERENCES	17

List of Abbreviations

ADA Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

ALL Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia

AML Acute Myeloid Leukemia

AYA Adolescents and Young Adults

CAR-T A type of immunotherapy created with modified patient blood cells

CNS Central Nervous System

COG Children's Oncology Group

DAs Differing Abilities

IOM Institute of Medicine

LCCC Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center

LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer and other sexualities and/or identities

Lly Lymphoma

MIBG Iodine 131 Meta-iodobenzylguanidine is a radiopharmaceutical used to treat

pediatric neuroblastoma

NC North Carolina

NCCH NC Children's Hospital

NCCS National Children's Cancer Society

NCI National Cancer Institute

PHO Pediatric Hematology & Oncology Division within the University of North Carolina

School of Medicine

SOC Standard of Care

UNC-H Single entity of UNC HealthCare – including NC Children's Hospital &

Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center

UNC-SOM University of North Carolina School of Medicine

US United States

PEDIATRIC AND AYA ONCOLOGY

Background

Pediatric oncology encompasses all solid and hematologic malignancies in patients between the ages of 0-21 (Cancer.gov, 2020). The two most common hematologic cancer diagnoses are leukemia (ALL) & lymphoma (Lly) while the most common solid cancer diagnoses are brain & central nervous system cancers (CNS). A new subspecialty that has emerged in the past ten years focuses on Adolescents and Young Adults (AYA) patients that have been diagnosed with any cancer between the ages of 13-39 (Lewis et al., 2014). Both pediatric and AYA oncology have unique trainings or fellowships that providers must complete; the care provided by both specialties cross over frequently and results in a collaborative relationship to ensure that any patient diagnosed between the ages of 0-39 have the best care and outcomes possible. Additionally, as pediatric oncology survival rates have continued to rise, patients live longer but now, must also deal with the long-term side effects of pediatric oncology therapy throughout their adulthood (O'Leary et al., 2008).

In the United States (US), there are greater than 10,000 new pediatric cancer diagnoses yearly; greater than 70,000 diagnoses for patients within the AYA range of 15-29 are diagnosed yearly (National Cancer Institute [NCI] Childhood Cancer, 2020; NCI AYA, 2020). Between 10-20% of these patients will die due to their malignancy - making cancer the leading cause of death for children and the fourth leading cause of death for AYA patients (NCI Childhood Cancer, 2020; NCI AYA, 2020).

Long-term Effects of Pediatric or AYA Cancer Diagnosis

The implications of a pediatric or AYA cancer diagnosis exceeds just the physical effects that patients will experience during treatment; patients, caregivers and families can experience extensive financial, emotional, physical burdens (Dockerty et at., 2003; Vannatta & Gerhardt, 2003; Houtzager et al., 2001; Klassen et al., 2012; Rabineua et al., 2008).

As reported by Pelletier & Bona (2015), financial hardships affect a majority of the pediatric oncology population and affect families from all socio-economic groups (Pelletier & Bona, 2015). In fact, more than 1/3 of families will lose between 40-50% of their yearly income due to the cost associated with a family member's pediatric oncology diagnosis (Bona, 2014). While financial burdens may affect a majority of families, those in lower-income brackets are affected more significantly as the cost associated with treatment require a greater proportion of their income than their wealthier counterparts (Bona et al., 2014).

Understandably, caregivers suffer from emotional distress throughout patient treatment (Edmond et al, 2016). As many as 5-10% of caregivers and/or parents will develop posttraumatic stress disorder, while more than half will experience distress levels consistent with PTSD (National Children's Cancer Society [NCCS], 2018). Disparities in caregiver & patient distress have been reported, with racial & ethnic minorities and those with lower socioeconomic status reporting higher levels of distress (Nam et al, 2016)

Pediatric and AYA oncology patients can suffer from long-term side effects from treatment. These side effects can include physical side effects – such as reproductive or sexual dysfunction, cardia disease, neurocognitive deficits - as well as behavioral, psychosocial, financial, or other types of issues (Baker & Syrjala, 2018; Jacobs & Pucci, 2013)). More than 60% of pediatric and AYA patients will be diagnosed with a severe long-term side effect that will continue to place additional burdens of the patient (Kopp et al, 2012).

Disparities & Barriers to Care

The disparities that exist among the quality, type and breadth of healthcare provided to patients – with or without a cancer diagnosis – have been studied over the past three decades Certain marginalized groups have been found to receive poorer care as compared to their counterparts (Balsa et al., 2003; Penner et al, 2012).

Racial and ethnic minorities have been found to receive poorer care, have worse outcomes and have significantly more barriers to care than their Caucasian counterparts in the

US (Palanker, 2008). The Children's Oncology Group (COG) – the pediatric oncology cooperative group funded by the NCI to conduct pediatric and AYA oncology therapeutic and translational research studies – has reported similar trends among pediatric cancer patients, with racial and ethnic minorities experiencing worse outcomes and high rates of mortality. (Armenian et al, 2012; Morris et al, 2010).

Those from the LGBTQ+ population have also been found to have worse health outcomes than their hetero/cis-gender counterparts (Fredrisksen-Goldsen et al., 2012).

Research has also confirmed that those from the LGBTQ+ population that have a cancer diagnosis suffer worse outcomes and are not provided the same care offered to other patients (Fish et al., 2018).

Patients with DAs are those that have any restriction or diminishing ability to complete the tasks of everyday life like showering, eating or doing chores (NCI, 2020). Between 10-20% of the US population has DAs; the US has passed laws to address discrimination faced by those from the DAs (Shakespeare et al, 2009). This law outlines the protection in place for those with DAs as well as the federal guidelines for healthcare office space that can address the barriers that those with DAs typically face in the healthcare setting (ADA, 2009). Although this law was passed in 1991 and has been amended since there exist minimal changes in layouts of healthcare clinics and many of the barriers identified in 1991 still persist (Sherman & Sherman, 2011)

Pediatric and AYA cancers are considered rare – by NCI definition, rare cancers occur in less than 15/100,000 people per year (NCI, 2020). The limited number of patients has led to a lack of data about the general pediatric and AYA oncology population (Cahill & Makadon, 2013; Munoz-Blacno et al., 2017; Ortega el al, 2007; Clarke, 2019). It is fair to assume that if minimal data has been collected regarding pediatric and AYA oncology patients, there are even less data about those same patients that are parts of the group discussed above.

Role of the UNC Healthcare System

The UNC Healthcare (UNC-H) system is a state-funded single entity that provides healthcare to the state of NC; the NC Children's Hospital (NCCH) & Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center (LCCC) are both parts of the UNC-H system. NCCH is the only state-funded children's hospital in NC and provides treatment to any patient, regardless of barriers that may affect a patient's ability to receive care at other institutions (i.e. lack of insurance or ability to pay for service, immigration status, and lack of access to medical centers in rural areas). Per report (Gold, 2020), UNC treats pediatric and AYA patients that are from the marginalized groups mentioned previously – as well as patients that are undocumented, uninsured or any combination of the groups listed.

The UNC-H system is paid by and created to treat the citizens of NC; the UNC-H mission is, "to improve the health and wellbeing of North Carolinians and others whom [UNC-H] serve[s]" (UNC Health, 2020). To provide the people of NC with the best quality of care, it must a priority for UNC-H to address any disparities that exist. The author acknowledges that the changes that would be required to address every disparity that exists for any marginalized group would undoubtedly involve systematic changes that would take years – perhaps even decades – to implement. Nonetheless, there are ways that UNC could address some of these disparities to lessen the burden for the pediatric and AYA oncology populations treated at UNC.

As a first step, the author will provide a review of the disparities that impact the care provided to pediatric and AYA oncology patients from those groups identified previously - racial & ethnic minorities and those from the LGBTQ+ community. As patients with DAs face physical barriers, this population will also be included. For this review, our specific focus will be on the disparities in care for pediatric and AYA oncology patients.

DISPARITIES AMONG MARGINALIZED GROUPS

Disparities Encounted by Racial & Ethnic Minority Patients

Racial and ethnic minorities – including those that have immigrated to the US without proper documentation – face systemic barriers when seeking healthcare. As the population of the US continues to increase, the number of patients that will be affected by those disparities will also increase (US Census, 2020). There exist disparities in both the health of individuals and the healthcare access available to children from racial and ethnic minorities; these disparities are seen worldwide (Calza et al., 2016; Hacker et al., 2015; Goodburn, 2014; Flore, 2012; Gee & Ford, 2011; Chu et al., 2007)

In the US, pediatric patients from racial minorities are not provided the same information, do not receive the same quality of care and have worse outcomes than their Caucasian non-minority counterparts (Bhatia, 2011; Illowite et al., 2017). For caregivers from minority groups that speak non-English languages, language barriers harm the ability of caregivers to make an informed decision regarding treatment and correspondingly, those language barriers negatively impact the healthcare experience from the perspective of the caregiver (Zamaora et al., 2016).

Racial minorities are underrepresented in pediatric oncology research (Duma et al., 2017; Hamel et al., 2016); research shows that for these group many miscommunication issues exist before and during the informed consent process that may affect the willingness of patient participation in clinical trials (Simon & Kodish, 2005; Rick & Schabath, 2018). This is extremely problematic considering that within the pediatric oncology community, clinical trial enrollment is considered the standard of care (SOC) as treatment evolves quickly (Unguru, 2011). Within the US, Hispanic and African American patients do not participate in research as much as their non-minority counterparts that adds yet another barrier to quality healthcare on top of the other barriers these patient encounters (Aristizabal et al., 2015; Ford et al., 2007). Without the willingness of these patients to participate in research, the gap in quality of care continues to

widen and continues to hinder obtaining new information about those groups that could be used when attempting to address the disparities.

Undocumented patients face additional barriers to accessing quality healthcare, including fear of deportation, federal governmental action, or discrimination; lack of financial resources or stigma (Hacker et al, 2015). Undocumented patients both utilize healthcare services less than other groups and report worse experience in healthcare settings (Ortega et al, 2007). Providers for undocumented patients may also experience ethical dilemmas, which affects the type of care and treatment provided to those patients (Jepson et al., 2010). Providers may feel conflicted in wanting to provide oncology care for undocumented patients but there likely exist federal or state guidelines that may prohibit providing services to those without insurance or there may be a restriction (based on immigration status) for subsidized-care. Many healthcare organizations attempt to implement programs to address some of these disparities, but there are limited programs for undocumented patients and access to those programs is minimal (Nunnery et al., 2016).

Disparities Encounted by LGBTQ+ Patients

There also exist disparities in both the health, the healthcare provided to pediatric, and AYA patients that identify as part of the LGBTQ+ community (Institute of Medicine [IOM], 2011; Silberholz et al. 2017; Gibson et al., 2017. For instance, due to lack of disclosure of or LGBTQ+ status – from patient-to-provider or provider-to-patient -, patients that identify as LGBTQ+ are not provided adequate health information. Specifically, this population is often not provided information regarding risks that are known to increase for those that identify as LBGTQ+ (Quinn et al., 2014). Without the appropriate information, patients are not able to make educated decisions related to their healthcare – despite evidence that increased patient education improves outcomes (Boyle & Bubalo, 2007; Stromberb, 2005). When this population does receive care, it is often not an equivalent quality of care as provided to their non-LGBTQ+ counterparts (Kamen et al., 2015). As described by Eliason & Dibble (2015), healthcare

providers are rarely provided the training to fully understand the specific need of the LGBTQ+ population which unfortunately can result in disparities in care. Again, the lack of equal treatment for patients from this marginalized group will lead to worse outcomes and a greater burden for patients and caregivers.

<u>Disparities Encounted by Patients with Differing Abilities (DAs)</u>

Individuals with DAs have a similar incidence of a cancer diagnosis as those without DAs (Sullivan et al., 2004; Patja et al., 2001). There are subgroups of individuals with DAs, such as children diagnosed with Trisomy 21 (previously referred to as "Downs Syndrome"), who have a significantly higher chance of being diagnosed with acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) or acute myeloid leukemia (AML) than children without Trisomy 21– up to a 20-fold increased risk (Rabin & Whitlock, 2009; Hill et al., 2003)!

This population can encounter extensive barriers that are not as common with other marginalized groups – such as lack of disability awareness by providers, discontinuity of care or expectations of what is considered "normal" by healthcare providers (Acharya et al, 2017). Not only do these barriers affect the way these patients can navigate the healthcare system and receive appropriate treatment but they even affect the way these patients can physically navigate clinical spaces (Sakellarious et al, 2018). For instance, those in wheelchairs have been found to receive inconsistent physical evaluations and fewer screenings than their able-bodied counterparts; not surprisingly, these patients also *believe* they receive poorer care than other patients - which in fact appears to be true (Stillman et al., 2017). Again, the lack of equal treatment for patients from this marginalized group will lead to worse outcomes and a greater burden for patients and caregivers.

Implication of Disparities

Patients are multifaceted - and could be part of none, some, all or other marginalized groups than those described above. As mentioned, there is minimal research conducted on pediatric and AYA patients, and even less for those patients from marginalized groups - for

many patients, additional research is needed to be able to assess the niche barriers and disparities faced by those select patients (Magana et al., 2013). Many of the individuals in the groups listed above not only encounter the disparities listed but also face microaggressions (brief and commonplace daily verbal, behavioral or environmental indignities) - when interacting with providers and the healthcare system (Eliason & Dibble, 2015).

In the end – pediatric and AYA patients are not being provided the same care. Due to the disparities in care, there are specific groups that have worse outcomes, greater financial/social/emotional burden and are affected in a greater way than other patients. No pediatric or AYA patient could ever control or make any decision regarding their race, ethnicity, sexual orientation/identity or able-bodiedness – so why are those patients being provided worse care? These disparities can and must be addressed.

UNC PEDIATRIC & AYA POPULATION

UNC Demographics

Per a report from the PHO Division Chief (Gold, 2020), the PHO Oncology practice sees between 80-110 new pediatric & AYA cases per year; this number includes patients both newly diagnosed and those that have either relapsed or progressed. This number also includes those patients enrolled in clinical trials supported by PHO as many of the PHO research studies allow enrollment of patients greater than 18 years old – some studies even have no upper age limit and will allow enrollment of any pediatric, AYA or adult patients via a pediatric protocol.

Dr. Gold confirmed that between 30-50% of new patients each year self-report as minorities (African American, American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian or Pacific Islander); additionally, between 20-40% of new patients each year self-identify as Hispanic. Although no data has been collected in regards to the number of LGTBQ+ pediatric or AYA patients, it would be reasonable to assume there is at least one patient treated in the PHO practice per year that would fall in that group. Similarly, patients with DAs may have information about any DAs documented in their medical records, but the discrete number of patients with DAs that are treated by PHO is not documented. Again, it can be assumed that at least one patient treated in the PHO practice per year would fall into this group.

As the state-funded hospital created and maintained to provide the best care to all North Carolinians, UNC-H has a responsibility to address disparities for any pediatric or AYA patients discussed previously. Even if disparities only exist for a limited number of patients – even if only a single patient – those are still barriers that must be addressed for those patients to receive the best care possible.

Changes in the UNC-H Pediatric and AYA Oncology Practices

Over the past 20 years, the PHO division has grown tremendously. Since 2000, both the number of providers treating patients and the clinical research staff have tripled. The number of clinical trials available for patient enrollment continues to increase with an average of 30-40

studies available for enrollment at a time. The type of treatment available and able to be delivered within UNC-H has also dramatically increased over the past 20 years. UNC-H can treat pediatric and AYA patients with many advanced therapeutic options that are not available at many other facilities such as MIBG treatment, CAR-T Cell Therapy, and stem cell transplant.

Another development in the care available to patients has been the creation of the AYA Program that provides care and support to patients treated at UNC-H between 13-39 years (LCCC, 2020). The creation of the program was funded by the Be Loud! Sophie Foundation (Be Loud!, 2019). The Be Loud! Sophie Foundation was created by the family of a former UNC-H AYA patient, Sophie, who wanted to find a way to address the specific needs of adolescents and young adults. With the creation of the AYA program, the PHO practice has been able to recruit providers that have completed both pediatric and AYA training in hopes to be able to address the specific needs of those patients and address any disparities that may exist.

MOVING FORWARD

With such a large number of systemic sources of disparities and the ever-growing and changing population in the US, policy changes to either legislation or insurance will be necessary for many of these disparities to be addressed (Williams & Jackson, 2005; Hacker et al., 2015). US policy changes take decades – but in the meantime, organizations can begin to implement low-risk, high-reward interventions at the local level that can begin to affect the barriers for those marginalized groups (Krahn et al., 2006),

What is clear is that resources are needed in various modalities – from non-verbal communication (such as the use of sign-language or "charades"), interpreters, educational material for all involved with care, or trainings (Silberholz et al., 2017; Saeed, 2018; Pergert et al., 2008; Gibson, F, 2008). Training must be provided for all those associated with the treatment of patients – not just medical clinicians but all other types of providers that care for patients such as social worker, recreation life specialist, occupation/physical therapist, as well as clinic administrators (Davis, 2008 Glenn-Vega, 2002;). For many marginalized groups, clinical providers acknowledge their own lack of training and are eager to receive further education regarding these communities (Schabath et al., 2019, TJC, 2015; Griggs et al., 2017).

In the future, this review will be used as the foundation for a diversity and inclusion initiative that will begin the process to start addressing the disparities that are specific to patient seen within UNC-H. To be able to address the disparities encountered by patients specifically in the UNC-H system, data from those in the marginalized groups must be collected. Measures such as the Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire could be used to collect information from these groups to assess how patients perceive their care and the disparities and/or barriers faced (Sjetne et al., 2011). This process could be completed during clinic visits in the inpatient or outpatient setting with collaboration from social workers or childlife specialist in the clinic that maintain a long-term relationship with families and patients throughout the entirety of treatment – which can last up to 4 years.

Once there is a greater understanding of the specific patient population of pediatric and AYA oncology patients at UNC-H, quality improvement initiatives could be created with the input from the various stakeholders involved. Using quality improvement guides such as those created by the Institute of Healthcare Improvement or Johns Hopkins to guide the quality improvement process would be a good use of resources already created (IHI, 2020; Johns Hopkins). A quality improvement plan would be created to provide guidance to UNC-H on how any evidence-based changes could be fully implemented to provide a more inclusive and equitable practice for all patients.

The most reasonable approach would be to start with low-cost, low-risk initiatives that can quickly affect patient care. For instance, clinical interpreters improve patient care and provide a way for clinicians and patients to ensure effective communication (Jugner et al., 2018); although there may be budgetary restrictions for hiring interpreters, there are many free software apps that can provide real-time translations and should be available for use with patients. Along with interpreters, clinic space should contain bilingual signage and translations of all patient-facing documents. Another low-cost, low-risk initiative would be to provide training to providers and clinical staff that address some of these disparities such as cultural competency training which is effective in improving the care provided to culturally diverse patient populations (Dabney et al., 2016). Utilizing the resources and tools of research that have been completed to address health care inequities and tailoring those resources and tools for the pediatric and AYA oncology population may a quick (and low-cost) way to address these disparities while further research is completed on the pediatric and AYA patient population.

REFERENCES

- Acharya, D, Meza, R & Msall, ME (2017). Disparities in life course outcomes in youth with disabilities. *Pediatrics Annals, 46(10), e371-e376.* https://doi.org/10.3928/19382359-20170918-01
- Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990 (2009) Information and Technical Assistance on the Americans with Disabilities Act. Accessed at:

 https://www.ada.gov/pubs/adastatute08.htm#top
- Aristizabal, P, Singer, J, Cooper, R, Wells, KJ, Nodora, J, Milburn, M, Gahagan, H, Schiff, ED & Martinez, ME (2015). Participation in pediatric oncology research protocols:

 Racial/ethnic, language and age-based disparities. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer, 62(8),*1337-1344. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.25472
- Armenian SH, Landier W, Hudson MM, Robison LL, & Bhatia S (2012). Children's Oncology Group's 2013 Blueprint for Research: Survivorship and Outcomes. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 60(6), 1063-1068. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.24422
- Baker KS & Syrjala KL (2018). Long-term Complication in Adolescent and Young Adult

 Leukemia Survivors. *Hematology, American Society of Hematology Education Program,*146-153. https://doi.org/10.1182/asheducation-2018.1.146
- Balsa, AI, Seiler, N, McGuire, TG & Bloche, MG (2003). Clinical uncertainty and healthcare disparities. *American Journal of Law & Medicine*, 29, 203-219.
- Be Loud! Sophie Foundation (2019). Sophie's Cancer Story. Accessed at: https://beloudsophie.org/sophies-cancer-story/
- Bhatia, S (2011). Disparities in cancer outcomes: Lessons learned from children with cancer.

 Pediatric Blood & Cancer, 56(6), 994-1002. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.23078
- Bona, K, Dussel, V, Orellana, L, Kang, T, Geyer, R, Feudtner, C,& Wolfe, J (2014). Economic impact of advanced pediatric cancer on families. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 47(3), 594-603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.04.003

- Bona K, Dussel V, Orellana L, Kang T, Geyer R, Feudtner C & Wolfe J (2014). Economic Impact of Advanced Pediatric Cancer on Families *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 47(3), 594-603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.04.003
- Boyle, D & Bubalo, J (2007). Enhancing patient adherence to improve outcomes with oral chemotherapy. *US Pharmacist*, *32(10)*, *1-8*.
- Cahill, S & Makadon, H (2013). Sexual orientation and gender identity data collection in clinical settings and in electronic health records: A key to ending LGBT health disparities. *LGBT Health*, *1*(1), *1-8*. doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2013.0001
- Calza S, Rossi S, Bagnasco A & Sasso L (2015). Exploring factors influencing transcultural caring relationships in the pediatric stem cell transplant setting: An explorative study.

 Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing, 5-9.

 https://doi.org/10.3109/01460862.2015.1059907
- Chu KC, Miller BA & Springfield SA (2007). Measures of Racial/Ethnic Health Disparities in Cancer Mortality Rates and the Influence of Socioeconomic Status. *Journal of National Medical Association*, 99(10), 1092-1104.
- Clarke M, Lewin J, Lazarakis S & Thompson K (2019). Overlooked minorities: The intersection of cancer in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and/or Intersex adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology, 8(5).* https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2019.0021
- Dabney K, McClairn L, Ramano E, Fitzgerald D, Bayne L, Oceanic P, Nettles AL & Holmes Jr L. (2016). Cultural Competence in Pediatrics: Health Care Provider Knowledge, Awareness and Skills. *International Journal of Environemental Research & Public Health, 13(1)*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010014
- Davis MJ (2009). Issues in access to oral health care for special care patients. *Dental Clinics of North America*, 53(2), 169-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cden.2008.12.003
- Dockerty JD, Skegg DCG & Williams SM. (2003). Economic effects of childhood cancer on

- families, Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health, 39(4), 254-258. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1754.2003.00138.x
- Duma, N, Aguilera, JV, Paludo, J, Haddox, CL, Gonzalez-Velez, M, Wang, Y, Leventakos, K, Hubbard, JM, Mansfield AS, Go, RG & Adjei, AA (2017). Representation of minorities and women in oncology clinical trials: Review of the past 14 years. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 14(1), e1-e10.
- Edmond SN, Graves P, Whiting SE & Karlson CW (2016). Emotional distress and burden among caregivers of children with oncological/hematological disorders. *Family, Systems* & *Health*, 34(2), 166-171. https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000181
- Eliason, MJ & Dibble, SL (2015). Provider-patient issue for the LGBT cancer patient. *Cancer and the LGBT Community*, 187-202.
- Fish J, Williamson I, Brown J, Padley W, Bell K & Long J (2018) Promoting Good Outcomes in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Cancer Care: A Qualitative Study of Patients' Experiences in Clinical Oncology. *Leicester, De Montfort University*. Accessed at:

 https://dora.dmu.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/2086/16125/More%20than%20a%20Diagnosis/%20Project%20Report.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Fores, G & the Committee on Pediatric Research (2010). Technical report Racial and ethnic disparities in the health and healthcare of children. *Pediatrics*, 125(4), e979-e1020. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-0188
- Ford, JG, Howerton, MW, Lai, GY, Gary, TL, Bolen, S, Gibbons, MC, Tiburt, J, Baffi, C, Tanpiutukpongse, TP, Wilson, RF, Powe, NR & Bass, EB. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: A systematic review. *Cancer*, 112(2), 228-242. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.23157
- Fredrisksen-Goldsen KI, Kim H, Barkan SE, Muraco A, Hoy-Ellis CP (2012). Health Disparities

 Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Older Adults: Results from a Population-Based

 Study. *American Public Health Association*, 10, 1802-1809

- Hamel LM, Penner LA, Albrecht TL, Heath E, Gwede CK & Eggly S (2016). Barriers to clinical trial enrollment in racial and ethnic minority patients with cancer. *Cancer Control*, 23(4), 327-337. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F107327481602300404
- Gee GC & Ford CL (2011). Sturcutral Racism and Health Inequities: Old Issues, New Directions. *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race, 8(1),* 115-132. https://doi.org/10.107/S1742058X11000130
- Gibson AW, Radix AE, Maingi S & Patel S (2017). Cancer are in lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer populations. *Future Oncology, 13(15).*https://doi.org/10.2217/fon-2017-0482
- Gibson, F (2008). The cultural context of ocommunicating complex information to parents of children with cancer Not just a linguistic obstacle. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 12(1), 2-3. https://doi.org/10.101/j.ejon.2008.01.004
- Gil S, Hooke MC & Niess D (2015). The limited English proficiency patient family advocate role: Fostering respectful and effective care across language and culture in a pediatric oncology setting. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 33(3), 190-198. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1043454215611082
- Glenn-Vega A (2002). Achieving a more minority-friendly practice. *Family Practice Management*, *9*(6), 39-43.
- Griggs J, Maingi S, Blinder V, Denduluri N, Khorana AA, Norton L, Francisco M, Wollins DS & Rowland JH (2017). American Society of Clinical Oncology Position Statement: Strategies for reducing cancer health disparities among sexual and gender minority populations. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 35(19), 2203-2208. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.0441
- Goodburn C (2014). Rural-Urban Migration and Gender Disparities in Child Healthcare in China and India. *Development and Change*, *45(4)*, 631-655.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12098

- Gold, S. (2020), Interview between Dr. Stuart Gold, the Pediatric Hematology/Oncology Division

 Chief and Juanita Ramirez
- Hacker K, Anies M, Folb BL & Zallman L (2015). Barriers to health care for undocumented immigrants: A literature review. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 8, 175-183. https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S70173
- Hill, DA, Gridley, G, Cnattingius, S, Mellemkjaer, L, Linet, M, Adami, H, Olsen, JH, Nyern, O & Fraumeni JF (2003). Mortality and cancer incidence among individual with downs syndrome. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *163*(3), *705-711*.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.163.6.705
- Houtzager, BA, Grootenhus, MA, & Last, BF. (2001). Supportive groups for sibling of pediatric oncology patients: Impact on anxiety, Psycho-Oncology Special Issue on Children and Cancer, 315-324. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.528
- Ilowite MF, Cronin AM, Kang TI & Mack JW (2017). Disparities in prognosis communication among parents of children with cancer: The impact of race and ethnicity. *Cancer*, 123(20), 2995-4003. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30960
- Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI) (2020) Quality Improvement Essentials Toolkit.

 Accessed at: http://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/Tools/Quality-Improvement-Essentials-Toolkit.aspx
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Health Issues and Research Gap and Opportunities (2011). The health of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people: Building a foundation for better understanding. *National Academies Press.* Accessed: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK64812/#ch7.s1
- Jepson VA, Cox JV & Peppercorn J (2016). Ethical challenges: Oncologists' role in immigrant health care. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, *6*(*5*), *247-248*.

 https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.000129.
- Johns Hopkins (ND) Developing Your Quality Improvement Project. Accessed at:

- https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/armstrong_institute/_files/patient%20safety%20and%2

 Oquality%20improvement%20project%20tools/spirit_toolkit/module%203_worksheet%20

 for%20qi%20project.pdf
- Junger JG, Tiselius E, Blomgren K, Lutzen K & Pergert P (2019). The interpreter's voice:

 Carrying the bilingual conversation in interpreter-mediated consultations in pediatric oncology care. Patient Education and Counseling, 102(4), 656-662.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.10.029
- Kamen, C, Mustina, K, Johnson, MO & Boehmer, U. (2015). Same-sex couples matter in cancer care. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, *11(2)*, e212-215. doi: https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.2014.000877
- Klassen, A.F., Gulati, S., Granek, L. *et al.* Understanding the health impact of caregiving: a qualitative study of immigrant parents and single parents of children with cancer. *Qual Life Res*, 21, 1595–1605. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-011-0072-8
- Krhan GL, Hammond L & Turner A (2006). A cascade of diaprities: Health and health care access for people with intellectual disabilities. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10/1002/mrdd.20098
- Kopp LM, Gupta P, Pelayo-Katsanis L, Wittman B & Katsanis E (2012). Late Effect in Adult Survivors of Pediatric Cancer: A Guide for the Primary Physician. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *125*(7), 636-641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.01.013
- Jacobs LA & Pucci DA (2013). Adult Survivors of Childhood Cancer: The Medical and

 Psychosocial Late Effects of Cancer Treatment and the Impact on Sexual and

 Reproductive Health. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsm.12050
- Lewis DR, Seibel NL, Smith AW & Stedman MR (2014). Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer

 Survival. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute Monographs, 49*, 228-235.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/jncimongraphs/lgu019
- Magana S, Lopez K, Aguinaga A & Morton H (2012). Access to diagnosis and treatment 22

- services among Latino children with autism spectrusm disorders. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *51*(3), *131-153*. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-51.3.141
- Morris AM, Rhoads KF, Stain SC & Birkmeyer JD (2010). Understanding Racial Disparities in Cancer Treatment and Outcomes. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons, 211(1),* 105-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.02.051
- Munoz-Blanaco S, Raisanen JC, Donohue PK & Boss RD (2018). Enhancing pediatric palliative care for Latino children and their families: A review of the literature and recommendations for research and practice in the United States. *Children*, *5*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/children5010002
- Nam GE, Warner EL, Morreal DK, Kirchhoff AC, Kinney AY & Fluchel M (2016). Understanding psychological distress among pediatric cancer caregivers. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 24, 3147-3155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3136-z
- National Cancer Institute (NCi) Dictionary of Cancer Terms. (2020) *National Cancer Institute*.

 Accessed at: https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/adl
- NCCS (The National Children's Cancer Society) (2018). The Economic Impact of Childhood

 Cancer. Accessed: https://www.thenccs.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/the-economic-impact-of-childhood-cancer.pdf
- NCI (National Cancer Institute) Childhood Cancer (2020). Childhood Cancers. Accessed: https://www.cancer.gov/types/childhood-cancers
- NCI AYA (2020). Adolescents and Young Adults with Cancer. Accessed:

 https://www.cancer.gov/types/aya
- Nunnery SE, Fintel AE, Jackson C, Chandler JC, Ugwueke MO & Marin MG (2016). Treatment disparities faced by undocumented workers from low- and middle-income countries in the United States with Hematologic Malignancies. *Journ of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 14(4)*. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2016.0053
- O'Leary M, Krailo M, Anderson JR & Reaman GH (2008) Progress in Childhood Cancer: 50

- Years of Research Collaboration, A Report from the Children's Oncology Group.

 Seminars in Oncology, 35(5), 484-493. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2008.07.008
- Ortega AN, Fang H, Perez VH, Rizzo JA, Carter-Pokras O, Wallace SP & Gelberg L (2007).

 Health care access, use of services, and experiences among undocumented mexicans and other latinos. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 167(21), 2354-2360.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.167.21.2354
- Palanker D (2008). Enslaved by pain: How the US public health system adds to disparities in pain treatment for African Americans. *Georgetown Journal on Poverty Law & Policy*, 15(3).
- Patja, K, Eero, P, & Iivanainen, M (2001). Cancer incidence among people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 45(4), 300-307. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2788.2001.00322.x
- Pelletier W & Bona K (2015). Assessment of Financial Burden as a Standard of Care in Pediatric Oncology. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*. https://doiorg/10.1002/pbc.25714
- Penner LA, Eggly S, Griggs JJ, Underwood W, Orom H & Albrecht TL (2012). Life-threatening disparities: The treatment of black and white cancer patients. *Journal of Social Issues,* 68(2), 328-357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2012.01751.x
- Pergert P, Ekblad S, Enskar K & Bjork O (2008). Bridgin obstacles to transcultural caring relationships tools discovered through interviews with staff in pediatric oncology care.

 European Journal of Oncology Nursing, 12(1), 35-43.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2007.07.006
- Quinn GP, Schabath MB, Sanchez JA, Sutton SK & Green L (2015). The importance of disclosure: Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender/transsexual, queer/questioning, and intersex individuals and the cancer consortium. *Cancer*, 121(8), 1160-1163. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29203
- Rabin, KR & Whitlock, JA (2009). Malignancy in children with Trisomy 21. Oncologist, 14(2),

- 164-173 https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2008-0217
- Rabineau KM, Mabe PA & Vega RA (2008). Parenting stress in pediatric oncology populations.

 Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology, 30(5), 358-365.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/MPH.0b013e318168e76b
- Rice D & Schabath MB (2018). The future of LGBT cancer care: Practice and research implications. Seminars in Oncology Nursing, 34(1), 99-115.

 https://doi.org/10/1016/j.soncn.2017.12.007
- Saeed N (2018). Patient education in radiation oncology: evaluation and innovation. *Applied Radiation Oncology, 43-49.*
- Sakellarious D, Anstey S, Polack S, Rotarou ES, Warren N, Gaze S & Courtenay M.

 (2018). Pathway of disability-based discrimination in cancer care. *Critical Public Health*https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2019.1648762
- Schabath, MB, Blackburn, CA, Sutter, ME, Kanetsky, PA, Vadaparampil, ST, Simmons, VN, Sanchez, JA, Sutton, SK & Quinn, GP (2019) National survey of oncologist at National Cancer Institute Designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers: Attitudes, knowledge and practice behaviors about LGBTQ patients with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 37(7), 547-558. https://dx.doi.org/10.1200%2FJCO.18.00551
- Shakespearse T, Iezzoni LI & Grace NE (2009). Disability and the Training of Health Professionals. *The Lancet, 374(9704), 1815-1816*.
- Sherman S & Sherman J (2011). Design Professional and the Built Environment: Encountering Boundaries 20 Years After the American with Disabilities Act. *Journal of Disability & Society*, 27(1), 51-64. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.631797
- Silberholz EA, Brodie N, Spector ND & Pattishall AE (2017). Disparities in access to care in marginalized populations. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 29(6), 718-727. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0000000000000549
- Simon CH & Kodish ED (2005). Step into my zapatos, doc: Understanding and reducing 25

- communication disparities in the multicultural informed consent settings. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 48, 123-138.
- Sjetne IS, Bjertnaes OA, Olsen RV, Iversen HH & Bukholm G (2011). The Generic Short Patient Experiences Questionnaire (GS-PEQ): Identification of core items from a survey in Norway. *BMC Health Services Research*, 11(88). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-11-88
- Sobo EJ (2004). Good communication in pediatric cancer care: A culturally-informed research agenda. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 21(3), 150-154. https://doi.or/10.1177/1043454204264408
- Stromberg A (2005). The curcial role of patient education in heart failure. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, *3*(7), 363-369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejheart.2005.01.002
- Stillman M, Bertocci G, Smalley C, William S & Frost KL (2017). Healthcare Utilization and Associated Barriers Experience by Wheelchair Users: A Pilot Study. *Disability and Health Journal*, 10(4), 502-508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2017.02.003
- Sullivan SG, Hussain R, Threlfall T & Bittles AH (2004). The incidence of cancer in people with intellectual disabilities. *Cancer Causes and Control, 15, 1021-1025.*https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-004-1256-0
- TJC (The Joint Commission) (2015). Advancing effective communication cultural competence, and patient-and family-centered care for the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Community: A field guide. Accessed: https://www.downstate.edu/diversity/pdf/LGBT-Joint-Commission.pdf
- UNC Health (2020). Vision and Values. Accessed at:

 https://www.unchealthcare.org/about-us/vision-values/
- Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center (2020) Adolescent and Young Adult (AYA) Cancer Program. Accessed at: https://unclineberger.org/aya-support/
- Unguru Y (2011). The Successful Integration of Research and Care: How Pediatric Oncology 26

- Because the Subspeciality in Which Research Defines the Standard of Care. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, *56*(7), 1019-1025. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.22976
- US Census (2020). Quick Facts United States. Accessed at:

 https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/RHI125218
- Vannatta, K, & Gerhardt, CA (2003). Pediatric Oncology: Psychosocial Outcomes for Children and Families. *Handbook of pediatric psychology* (p. 342–357). The Guilford Press.
- Williams DR & Jackon PB (2005). Social sources of racial disparities in health. *Health Affairs*, 24(2), 125-134. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.325
- Zamora ER, Daul S, Kirchhoff AC, Gwilliam V, Jimenez OA, Morreall DK, Montenegro RE, Kinney AY & Fluchel MN (2016). The impact of language barriers and immigration status on the care experience for Spanish-speaking caregivers of patients with pediatric cancer. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 63(12), 2173-2180. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.26150